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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Simeon Thomas Berkley, petitioner here and 

appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the 

Court of Appeals decision terminating review under 

RAP 13.3 and RAP 13.4. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Berkley seeks review of the Court of Appeals 

decision dated September 6, 2022, a copy of which is 

attached as an appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether depriving Mr. Berkley of the use of 

prior act evidence deprived him of his right to present a 

defense. 

2. Whether describing Mr. Berkley’s acts as an 

“execution” constituted misconduct, depriving Mr. 

Berkley of his right to a fair trial.  
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Steven Whitemarsh had driven aggressively, put 

different driver in danger with his aggressive driving 

two months before his encounter with 73-year-old Mr. 

Berkley. RP 57-58, CP 141. This dangerous driving was 

a pattern with him, as his mother had told the police. 

Especially when he was drinking alcohol, Mr. 

Whitemarsh tended towards road rage. RP 55, CP 141. 

This behavior was acute, as Mr. Whitemarsh had six 

drunk-driving-related arrests. RP 61, CP 142. 

When Mr. Berkley encountered Mr. Whitemarsh, 

he was on his way to get Japanese takeout for his wife. 

4/6/21/ RP 144, 146. Mr. Berkley had spent the day 

gardening and working on a presentation he would 

give in his capacity as an engineer. Id. He and his wife 

had decided to get Japanese takeout for dinner. Id. 
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As Mr. Berkley drove to get the takeout, Mr. 

Whitemarsh pulled up behind him in his SUV. 4/6/21 

RP 146. Mr. Berkley tried to get ahead of Mr. 

Whitemarsh by going quickly through corners but 

could not escape him. Id. at 147. When Mr. Berkley got 

ahead of Mr. Whitemarsh, Mr. Whitemarsh would 

speed up until he was again immediately behind Mr. 

Berkley, pulling within feet of his rear bumper. Id.  

Mr. Berkley became concerned for his safety after 

Mr. Whitemarsh continued to rev his engine at a 

stoplight. Id. at 148. Mr. Whitemarsh had his car 

revved up at the stoplight, with a foot on the gas and 

the other on his brake. Id.  

Mr. Berkley was afraid. RP 824. Mr. Berkley 

started driving faster. 4/6/21 RP 150. Still, Mr. 

Whitemarsh pursued him, maintaining the same 

unsafe speed. Id. at 151. Mr. Berkley decided it was too 
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dangerous to drive so quickly in his neighborhood, with 

speeds exceeding 70 miles an hour. Id. at 152. To get 

away from Mr. Whitemarsh, Mr. Berkley tried to pull 

to the side of the road, quickly stopping his car. Id. at 

155, RP 815. 

Instead of driving past Mr. Berkley, Mr. 

Whitemarsh smashed his SUV into the back of Mr. 

Berkley’s car. 4/6/21 RP 156. Mr. Berkley was shaken 

and afraid, unsure of what would happen next. Id. at 

157.  

He could not flee, as he was an older man who 

Mr. Whitemarsh’s SUV had just rammed. Id. at 159. 

Mr. Berkley knew Mr. Whitemarsh’s dangerous 

behavior made it likely Mr. Whitemarsh was willing to 

continue to assault and harass him. RP 809. Mr. 

Berkley felt he had no choice but to move towards Mr. 
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Whitefish’s SUV to ensure Mr. Whitemarsh would 

cause him no more harm. 4/6/21 RP 159.  

As Mr. Berkley walked toward Mr. Whitemarsh’s 

SUV, he believed Mr. Whitemarsh was going to kill 

him. 4/6/21 RP 162. His whole body was shaking. Id. at 

159. Mr. Berkley took his legally possessed small-

caliber handgun out of his pocket holster. Id. at 66, 

159. Mr. Berkley believed Mr. Whitemarsh was going 

for a weapon as Mr. Berkley approached him. RP 839. 

When he saw Mr. Whitemarsh intended to cause him 

more harm, Mr. Berkley fired his handgun twice, 

hitting Mr. Whitemarsh both times. 4/6/21 RP 160. 

Once Mr. Whitemarsh became incapacitated, Mr. 

Berkley returned his firearm to his pocket holster, 

keeping it there until the police arrived. 4/6/21 RP 162. 

A woman said she would call 911, which Mr. Berkley 

thanked her for doing. Id. at 165. Mr. Berkley used his 
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phone to tell his wife what had happened and then 

went with the police when they arrived. Id. at 168. 

Mr. Whitemarsh died from the gunshots. RP 766. 

In the autopsy, the medical examiner discovered Mr. 

Whitemarsh was highly intoxicated, with a blood-

alcohol level of .195. Mr. Whitemarsh also had high 

levels of THC in his system, which is the intoxicant 

found in marijuana. RP 767. In a search of Mr. 

Whitemarsh’s SUV, the police found multiple 

containers of consumed alcohol. 4/6/21 RP 130. 

The government charged Mr. Berkley with 

second-degree murder, which requires an intentional 

act but not premeditation. CP 157-58. 

Before trial, Mr. Berkley informed the court of 

Mr. Whitemarsh’s dangerous reputation. RP 51, CP 

141. To defend himself and assert his self-defense 

claim, Mr. Berkley intended to introduce evidence of 
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Mr. Whitemarsh’s dangerous reputation and his 

dangerous driving. RP 51, CP 140. The trial court 

denied Mr. Berkley’s motion, precluding him from 

introducing the prior act evidence necessary to 

establish his defense. RP 76.  

In closing arguments, the government described 

Mr. Berkley’s actions as an “execution.” RP 887. Mr. 

Berkley promptly objected to this remark, asserting it 

was inflammatory. Id. The court overruled the 

objection, providing no curative instruction. Id. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. The trial court deprived Mr. Berkley of his 

ability to present a defense when it 

excluded him from introducing prior act 

evidence. 

The Court of Appeals determined that the trial 

court did not deprive Mr. Berkley of his right to 

present a defense when it excluded prior act evidence 

regarding Mr. Whitehead’s propensity towards road 
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rage. Slip Op. 4. This Court should accept review of the 

deprivation of Mr. Berkley’s right to defend himself, a 

significant question of constitutional law. RAP 13.4(b). 

a. The state and federal constitutions guarantee 

the right to present a defense. 

The federal and state constitutions guarantee a 

person charged with a crime has the right to present 

all relevant, admissible evidence in their defense. U.S 

Const. amend. VI; XIV; Const. art. I, § 22; Holmes v. 

South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 

L. Ed. 2d 205 (2006); State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 

719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); State v. Franklin, 180 Wn.2d 

371, 378, 325 P.3d 159 (2014); State v. Wade, 186 Wn. 

App. 749, 763-64, 346 P.3d 838 (2015). This right 

includes the right to present witnesses and to establish 

a defense, a fundamental right that courts must 

safeguard with “meticulous care.” State v. Maupin, 128 
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Wn.2d 918, 924-25, 913 P.2d 808 (1996) (citing State v. 

Burri, 87 Wn.2d 175, 181, 550 P.2d 507 (1976)). 

Mr. Berkley intended to establish his self-defense 

claim by demonstrating Mr. Whitemarsh’s reputation 

for road rage, especially while driving intoxicated. He 

would have done this by calling Mr. Whitemarsh’s 

mother, a prior incident of road rage victim, and 

through his driving record, which would have shown 

six drunk driving charges. RP 55-58, 61, CP 141-42. 

Through this evidence, Mr. Berkley intended to show 

that he was justified in his actions. RP 51, 76, CP 12. It 

also would have been relevant to show motive, absence 

of mistake, and Mr. Berkley’s need to protect himself 

when he shot Mr. Whitemarsh. Id.  

When the Court deprived him of the opportunity 

to present this evidence, Mr. Berkley was largely 

confined to what he could assert through his testimony. 
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Without support for his claims, this proved to be an 

inadequate defense.  

b. The trial court should have allowed Mr. 

Berkley to present evidence of Mr. 

Whitemarsh’s character traits, especially 

because this was a homicide case. 

The Court of Appeals rejected the argument that 

Mr. Berkley was entitled to introduce evidence of Mr. 

Whitemarsh’s character traits, putting it into conflict 

with this Court. Slip Op. 9. But this Court has held 

that Evidence of a pertinent trait of character of a 

victim of a crime is relevant and admissible if the trait 

supports a defense against the charged crime, 

including such affirmative defenses self-defense. State 

v. Eakins, 127 Wn.2d 490, 499, 902 P.2d 1236 (1995) 

(citing 1 Christopher Mueller & Laird Kirkpatrick, 

Federal Evidence § 101, at 549 (2d ed. 1994)). 

Mr. Berkley intended to defend himself by 

arguing Mr. Whitemarsh’s death was justified as an 
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act of self-defense. CP 141; see also RCW 9A.16.050(1). 

Mr. Berkley anticipated proving he had a “reasonable 

ground to apprehend a design” by Mr. Whitemarsh “to 

do some great personal injury to” him. CP 141. The 

evidence he intended to introduce would have been 

relevant to this decision. 

First, Mr. Whitemarsh was known as an 

aggressive driver, prone to road rage. Had the court 

allowed the evidence, Mr. Whitemarsh’s mother would 

have told the jury that Mr. Whitemarsh has a temper, 

got angry while driving, yelled, “flipped” people off, and 

carried a small baseball bat in his vehicle to use as a 

weapon. CP 141. 

Mr. Berkley also had evidence from a second 

witness who could verify this reputation. CP 141. The 

second witness had been the victim of Mr. 

Whitemarsh’s rage. Id. He would have been able to tell 
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the jury about a road rage incident only two months 

before Mr. Whitemarsh pursued Mr. Berkley with his 

car. Id. Among other impressions, Mr. Cunningham 

would have testified about Mr. Whitemarsh’s driving, 

demeanor, facial expressions, gestures, and the fear 

Mr. Cunningham felt during and after his encounter 

with Mr. Whitemarsh. Id. 

Mr. Whitemarsh also had a history of drunken 

driving, which Mr. Berkley intended to introduce to 

demonstrate why he acted in self-defense. CP 142. Mr. 

Whitemarsh had six prior convictions for alcohol-

related driving offenses. Id. Mr. Berkley also presented 

evidence that intoxicated persons are more likely to be 

angry and dangerous drivers than others on the road. 

Id. (citing American Psychological Association 

Psychology: Science in Action, The Fast and the Furious 
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(February 2014).1 Mr. Berkley intended to demonstrate 

Mr. Whitemarsh’s prior acts of drunk driving 

demonstrated his need to defend himself, showing Mr. 

Whitemarsh had a motive to assault Mr. Berkley and 

that Mr. Berkley’s fear of Mr. Whitemarsh was in no 

way mistaken. Id.  

Because Mr. Berkley claimed he acted in self-

defense, evidence of Mr. Whitemarsh’s reputation for 

dangerous driving, including his road rage and drunk 

driving, was admissible to establish Mr. Berkley’s 

defense. ER 404(a)(2); ER 405(a); State v. Young, 48 

Wn. App. 406, 410, 739 P.2d 1170 (1987) (citing State v. 

Safford, 24 Wn. App. 783, 604 P.2d 980 (1979)). This 

Court should accept review of whether this error 

deprived Mr. Berkley of his right to a fair trial. 

                                                           
1 https://www.apa.org/action/resources/research-

in-action/rage 

https://www.apa.org/action/resources/research-in-action/rage
https://www.apa.org/action/resources/research-in-action/rage
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c. ER 404(a) authorized Mr. Berkley to introduce 

the prior act evidence. 

The Court of Appeals determined the trial court 

did not err in restricting Mr. Berkely’s use of prior act 

evidence under ER 404(a). Because this decision 

conflicts with this Court’s decisions and the Court of 

Appeals, review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b). 

In other cases, the Court of Appeals has 

recognized that ER 404(a)(2) should have allowed Mr. 

Berkley to show Mr. Whitemarsh had a reputation for 

quarrelsome or a violent disposition, even though Mr. 

Berkley did not know Mr. Whitemarsh before the road 

rage incident. State v. Cloud, 7 Wn. App. 211, 217-18, 

498 P.2d 907 (1972); Karl Tegland, 5A Washington 

Practice: Evidence Law and Practice § 404.6 (5th ed.). 

Further, this and other states have long held that 

even where the decedent’s reputation for violence is not 

known to the accused, it can be admitted to assist the 
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jury in evaluating the deceased acts at the time of that 

person’s death. Evans v. United States, 107 U.S. App. 

D.C. 324, 277 F.2d 354, 1 A.L.R.3d 566 (1960); State v. 

Adamo, 120 Wash. 268, 207 P. 7 (1922); 1 John Henry 

Wigmore, Evidence 63 (3d ed. 1940). 

Because this decision conflicts with other 

decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, this 

Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b). 

d. ER 404(b) required the trial court to allow Mr. 

Berkely to introduce the prior act evidence. 

The Court of Appeals also rejected that ER 404(b) 

required reversal. Slip Op. 7. This Court should accept 

review and find otherwise. In self-defense cases like 

this one, ER 404(b) evidence is relevant to show who 

was the primary aggressor and why the accused had a 

reasonable apprehension of the alleged victim. The use 

of evidence of the victim’s other criminal acts in self-

defense cases is “relevant to the issue of whether 
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[person acting in self-defense's] apprehension and fear 

of bodily injury was objectively reasonable, one of the 

required elements of [the] affirmative defense” of self-

defense. Parrott-Horjes v. Rice, 168 Wn. App. 438, 445, 

276 P.3d 376 (2012). Because the Court of Appeals 

decision conflicts with other decisions of this Court and 

the Court of Appeals, review should be granted. RAP 

13.4(b). 

First, the Court of Appeals declined to follow its 

prior decision in Young. Slip Op. 8. In Young, the 

government charged Mr. Young with vehicular 

homicide after an SUV he was driving went out of 

control and left the roadway, killing two passengers. 48 

Wn. App. at 408. Mr. Young testified that one of his 

passengers grabbed the steering wheel during the 

incident and caused him to crash. Id. To support this 

argument, he sought to offer evidence that the same 
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passenger had seized the wheel away from the driver 

on four prior occasions. Id. at 408-09. The trial court 

suppressed Mr. Young’s evidence, finding it unfairly 

prejudicial under ER 403. Id. at 409. 

Unlike here, the Court of Appeals reversed Mr. 

Young’s conviction finding the evidence could be 

introduced under ER 404(b), which allows evidence of 

other crimes, wrongs, or acts to show proof of motive, 

opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, 

identity, or absence of mistake or accident. 48 Wn. App. 

at 412. This Court deemed the evidence admissible to 

prove the identity of the person truly responsible for 

the accident, control of the vehicle, and proximate 

cause of the accident. Id. at 413. 

The Court of Appeals attempts to distinguish 

Young because the evidence was used for identity. Slip 

Op. 8. But this is a hollow distinction ER 404(b) does 
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not make. Like Young, Mr. Berkley sought to introduce 

evidence of Mr. Whitemarsh’s reputation and prior acts 

to establish his defense. ER 404(b) expressly authorizes 

the introduction of other act evidence for purposes 

other than identity, which Young addresses. 48 Wn. 

App. at 412. And just like Young, Mr. Berkley’s 

evidence fell within ER 404(b). Id. 

The court also rejected its analysis from State v. 

Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App. 306, 318, 402 P.3d 281 

(2017). Slip Op. 8. In Duarte Vela, the Court of Appeals 

found the trial court violated Mr. Duarte Vela’s right to 

present a defense when it precluded prior act evidence, 

including evidence of a prison threat from three years 

earlier, the decedent’s abduction of Mr. Duarte Vela’s 

younger sister, and the decedent’s history of domestic 

violence. Id. at 313-15. 
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In reversing the conviction in Duarte Vela, the 

Court of Appeals recognized the constitutional 

requirement of allowing a defendant to present 

evidence necessary to prove their defense. 200 Wn. 

App. at 318. Like here, Mr. Duarte Vela presented a 

self-defense case. Id. Allowing Mr. Duarte Vela to 

introduce the prior act evidence allowed him to 

establish, like Mr. Berkley, his state of mind when the 

decedent died. Id.  

Further, the court recognized the importance of 

cross-examination and that suspect evidence should 

not be excluded but tested through cross-examination. 

Id. at 320. More importantly, the Court of Appeals was 

concerned with Mr. Duarte Vela’s right to present a 

defense under the Sixth Amendment. Id. at 321. 

Following Jones, the court found it was required to 
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reverse Mr. Duarte Vela’s conviction as a violation of 

his right to present a defense. Id. at 327. 

The trial court’s error also falls within when this 

Court recognizes the need for prior act evidence. State 

v. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d 53, 58, 502 P.3d 1255 (2022). In 

Jennings, this Court held that the evidence of a 

toxicology report was properly excluded because of its 

minimal relevance. Id. at 66. The evidence would have 

also required the jury to speculate about the effect of 

the intoxicants on its user. Id. 

But here, no speculation was required. Mr. 

Whitehead was a known aggressor in his community, 

through both general reputation and specific acts. 

Explaining why a person feels that they had to fire a 

pistol is no easy feat and is not accomplished through 

self-testimony, which can be seen as self-serving. Had 

the jury known that Mr. Berkley had reason to fear for 
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his life when he fired his gun, the outcome of his trial 

would have been different. Depriving Mr. Berkley of 

his right to present a defense prevented Mr. Berkley 

from receiving a fair trial. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 719 

(quoting Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 

S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973)). U.S. Const. 

amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22. This Court should review 

this error. 

2. The government’s misconduct in describing 

the shooting as an “execution” deprived Mr. 

Berkley of a fair trial. 

The Court of Appeals found that describing Mr. 

Berkley’s acts as an “execution” was not misconduct. 

Slip Op. 12. This opinion conflicts with the decisions of 

this Court. RAP 13.4(b). Further, this Court should 

take review because this gross mischaracterization of 

Mr. Berkley’s acts deprived him of a fair trial. Id.  
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a. The use of inflammatory language to prove its 

case is impermissible misconduct. 

Prosecutors play a central and influential role in 

protecting the fundamental fairness of the criminal 

justice system. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 

257 P.3d 551 (2011). Prosecutorial misconduct violates 

the “fundamental fairness essential to the very concept 

of justice.” Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 

642, 94 S. Ct. 1868, 40 L.Ed.2d 431 (1974); U.S. Const. 

amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3, § 22.  

A prosecutor’s closing arguments impermissibly 

taint the jury’s deliberations when the comments are 

“improper and prejudicial.” State v. Lindsay, 180 

Wn.2d 423, 430, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). When the 

prosecutor used the word “execution” to describe Mr. 

Berkley’s acts, it committed misconduct. This Court 

should accept review of whether this misconduct 

required a new trial. 
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In closing arguments, the prosecutor described 

Mr. Berkley’s acts as an “execution.” RP 887. The 

following argument took place, along with Mr. 

Berkley’s objection and the court’s ruling:  

The second shot in this case is probably 

better characterized as an execution. 

RP 887. 

Mr. Berkley immediately objected, calling the 

comment “inflammatory.” RP 887. The court overruled 

the objection, telling the jury the improper comment 

was only an “argument.” Id. The court did not provide 

a curative instruction. Id. 

This Court should confirm that advocacy has its 

limits. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 443, 258 

P.3d 43 (2011). This Court has been clear that 

prosecutors have the duty to subdue courtroom zeal, 

not add to it, in order to ensure the defendant receives 

a fair trial. Id.  
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Closing arguments are not an opportunity to 

present derogatory depictions of the defendant. State v. 

Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 478, 341 P.3d 976 (2015). Nor 

should the prosecution use closing argument to inflame 

the jury’s passions with heated, partisan comments. 

State v. Rivers, 96 Wn. App. 672, 675, 981 P.2d 16 

(1999). Justice can be secured only when a conviction is 

based on specific evidence and not rhetoric. State v. 

Loughbom, 196 Wn.2d 64, 69-70, 470 P.3d 499 (2020). 

The Court of Appeals relies on State v. Davis, 141 

Wn.2d 798, 873, 10 P.3d 977 (2000), to deny Mr. 

Berkley any relief. Slip Op. 14. Of course, Davis 

involves an aggravated murder case, where the 

government was obligated to prove premeditation. The 

same is not true when the crime charged is second-

degree murder, as second-degree murder does not 

require proof of premeditation. Cf. RCW 
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9A.32.050(1)(a) with RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a). Instead, 

describing an act not charged with premeditation as an 

“execution” can only be described as an attempt to 

inflame the jury. Loughbom, 196 Wn.2d at 69-70. 

More recently, this Court has rejected the use of 

rhetoric to prove a case. In Loughbom, this Court 

overturned the conviction because of the prosecutor’s 

use of the phrase “war on drugs.” 196 Wn.2d at 69-70. 

Likewise, this Court held that the use of rhetoric was 

reversible error when the prosecutor superimposed the 

words “Guilty beyond a reasonable doubt” over a 

defendant’s booking photo and labeled PowerPoint 

slides with the caption “Defendant Walker guilty of 

premeditated murder.” Walker, 182 Wn.2d at 477. In 

addition, the Supreme Court reversed where the 

prosecutor used derogatory terms to describe the Black 
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community and witnesses who were persons of color. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 681. 

Relying on Davis to find the word “execution” 

proper in a non-aggravated first-degree murder case is 

error. This Court should stop trial courts from using 

this inflammatory phrase by accepting review.  

b. The error deprived Mr. Berkely of his right to a 

fair trial.  

The Court of Appeals also held that the 

prosecutor’s statement did not have a substantial 

likelihood of affecting the verdict. Slip Op. 16. But this 

holding is in error. The government first described the 

shooting as an “execution” in closing arguments after 

Mr. Berkley testified, where he would have had an 

opportunity to rebut this mischaracterization of the 

evidence. RP 887. Misconduct in closing arguments is 

especially improper because of how it can influence the 
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jury. State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 146, 684 P.2d 699 

(1984). 

While there was never a dispute that Mr. Berkley 

shot Mr. Whitemarsh, the question of why was critical 

to the prosecution’s case. Throughout Mr. Berkley’s 

trial, he made it clear he feared that Mr. Whitemarsh 

intended to harm him. RP 824, 846, 865. Mr. Berkley 

shot Mr. Whitemarsh to protect himself. RP 867. 

When the government described this act as an 

“execution,” it intentionally evoked an emotional 

response. Loughbom, 196 Wn.2d at 69-70. Instead of 

seeing Mr. Berkley as a man in fear for his safety, the 

prosecutor created an image of a man intent on 

harming another by taking their life. Mr. Berkley did 

not make plans to kill Mr. Whitemarsh, and no 

evidence supported this theory. To call him an 
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executioner was an improper attempt to inflame the 

passions and prejudices of the jury. Id. 

When Mr. Berkley objected, the trial court should 

have sustained the objection and provided the jury 

with a curative instruction. State v. Smith, 144 Wn.2d 

665, 679, 30 P.3d 1245 (2001) (some improper 

prosecutorial remarks may touch upon constitutional 

rights but are still curable by a proper instruction). 

Instead, the trial court mistakenly told the jury that 

this was a proper statement as it was part of the 

prosecutor’s argument. RP 887. It was not. By 

affirming the statement, the trial court’s actions could 

have been seen as endorsing the prosecutor’s 

statement, causing further prejudice to Mr. Berkley. 

Where the prosecutor’s improper comment played 

directly into Mr. Berkley’s defense and made it harder 

for him to persuade the jury that his actions were 
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justified, the court should have stopped the 

government from improperly influencing the jury’s 

verdict. State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 28, 195 P.3d 

940 (2008). Contrary to the Court of Appeals, upon 

review, this Court should hold that the decision to 

allow the prosecutor to argue that Mr. Berkley was an 

executioner was improper. In re Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 

696, 714, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). As such, this Court 

should accept review.  

F. CONCLUSION 

Based on the preceding, Mr. Berkley respectfully 

requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 

13.4(b). 

This petition is 3,931 words long and complies 

with RAP 18.17. 

DATED this 5th day of October 2022. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
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ANDRUS, C.J. — Simeone Thomas Berkley appeals his conviction for 

second degree murder, arguing that he shot Steven Whitemarsh in self-defense 

during a road rage incident provoked by Whitemarsh.  Berkley contends the trial 

court erred in excluding evidence that Whitemarsh had previously engaged in 

aggressive and alcohol-impaired driving, impairing his right to present a defense.  

He also argues the prosecutor committed misconduct by characterizing his crime 

as an “execution” and the trial court imposed mandatory legal financial obligations 

(LFOs) that were unconstitutionally excessive.  We reject these arguments and 

affirm the judgment and sentence. 

FACTS 

On the evening of July 6, 2019, as Yuriy Gogun and his daughters drove 

down Glenwood Avenue in Everett, they saw a car, driven by Simeone Berkley, 

coming toward them.  Gogun saw Berkley turn on his left turn signal and abruptly 
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slow down.  Gogun then saw the vehicle following Berkley, driven by Stephen 

Whitemarsh, collide with the rear end of Berkley’s car.   

Gogun pulled over and saw Berkley get out of his car and walk up to 

Whitemarsh’s driver’s side window.  Both Gogun and his daughter, Juliana, 

testified they then saw Berkley pull out a gun and shoot Whitemarsh twice through 

the window, pausing three to five seconds between the shots.   

Beau Reeder, sitting in his car on Glenwood Avenue, heard a loud crash 

behind him.  When Reeder turned to look, he saw the collision.  Reeder grabbed 

his video camera and, as he got out of his car, heard two gunshots with a short 

pause in between.  Reeder began recording when he saw Berkley walking towards 

him.  Reeder asked him what happened and Berkley responded that the driver of 

the following vehicle had been chasing him.  Reeder then heard the engine of 

Whitemarsh’s car revving loudly.  Reeder and Berkley walked together to 

Whitemarsh’s car.  Reeder turned off his video camera while he attempted, 

unsuccessfully, to remove Whitemarsh’s leg from the car’s accelerator.  Berkley 

reached into the car and took the keys out of the ignition.  Reeder turned his video 

camera back on when Berkley told him, “don’t worry about him. I shot him twice in 

the head.”  Reeder saw that Whitemarsh was bleeding and heard him moaning.   

When police arrived, they found Whitemarsh still seated in his vehicle with 

his seat belt fastened and his doors locked, with gunshot wounds to his face and 

head.  Whitemarsh died at the scene.  The autopsy revealed that Berkley’s first 

shot entered Whitemarsh’s lower lip and shattered his jawbone.  The second shot 

entered his skull behind his left ear.  The Snohomish County chief medical 

examiner testified that the shots were fired from a distance of 6 to 24 inches away.  
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Whitemarsh had a blood alcohol level of .195 and a THC level of 4.7 nanograms 

per milliliter of blood.   

The State charged Berkley with second degree murder.  Berkley’s theory at 

trial was that he shot Whitemarsh in self-defense.   

Berkley testified that on the evening of the shooting, he was driving on 

Glenwood Avenue to pick up dinner for himself and his wife.  On the way, he 

noticed Whitemarsh’s SUV closely following him.  Berkley grew concerned about 

what he described as Whitemarsh’s aggressive driving when, at a stop light, 

Whitemarsh repeatedly revved his engine directly behind Berkley’s vehicle.  

Berkley claimed he drove at an excessive rate of speed to get away from 

Whitemarsh, but Whitemarsh continued to tailgate him.  At some point, Berkley 

decided he was “tired of the chase,” and slammed on his brakes, causing 

Whitemarsh’s SUV to collide with the back of Berkley’s vehicle.   

Berkley admitted he then got out of his car, walked over to Whitemarsh’s 

driver’s side window, pulled a pistol from his pocket, and shot Whitemarsh twice.  

He admitted he never saw a weapon and did not exchange any words with 

Whitemarsh.   

To support his theory of self-defense, Berkley sought to introduce three 

pieces of evidence to demonstrate that Whitemarsh had previously engaged in 

alcohol-fueled road rage incidents.  First, he asked to introduce evidence that the 

victim’s mother, Patricia Whitemarsh, told police that Whitemarsh “is a road rage 

driver, that he gets angry at drivers, [and] that he carries a weapon in his car.”  

Second, Berkley offered testimony from Alan Cunningham, who had observed 

Whitemarsh aggressively tailgate another driver in the same manner as described 
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by Berkley.  Third, Berkley sought to introduce Whitemarsh’s six prior convictions 

for driving under the influence (DUI).  Berkley argued that this evidence supported 

his argument that Whitemarsh was the primary aggressor and that Berkley had a 

reasonable apprehension of harm.   

The trial court excluded the evidence under ER 404.  The court reasoned 

that Patricia Whitemarsh’s testimony was not “general and neutralized” to 

constitute admissible reputation evidence and was instead inadmissible opinion 

evidence.  Cunningham’s testimony, the court held, was not general reputation 

evidence, but was information about a single past incident, making it inadmissible 

propensity evidence under ER 404(a) and inadmissible to establish a common 

scheme or plan under ER 404(b).  With regard to Whitemarsh’s DUI convictions, 

the court held that they were inadmissible evidence of prior bad acts under ER 

404(a), inadmissible propensity evidence under ER 404(b), and not probative of 

whether Whitemarsh was the aggressor.   

The jury found Berkley guilty of second degree murder and the court 

sentenced him to 264 months of confinement.   

ANALYSIS 

Berkley’s Right to Present a Defense 

Berkley first argues the trial court’s exclusion of the evidence of 

Whitemarsh’s history of impaired and aggressive driving violated his right to 

present a defense.  We disagree. 

In analyzing whether a trial court’s evidentiary decision violated a 

defendant’s right to present a defense under the Sixth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution, we first review the court’s evidentiary ruling for abuse of 
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discretion.  State v. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d 53, 58, 502 P.3d 1255 (2022) (citing 

State v. Arndt, 194 Wn.2d 784, 813, 453 P.3d 696 (2019)).  A trial court abuses its 

discretion if no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court.  

Jennings, 199 Wn.2d at 59.  We then consider de novo whether the exclusion of 

evidence violated the defendant’s constitutional right to present a defense.  Id. at 

58. 

Berkley argues that the excluded evidence was admissible under either ER 

404(a) or (b).  We reject these arguments.  Under ER 404(a), “[e]vidence of a 

person’s character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of 

proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion.”  ER 404(a)(2) 

provides an exception to this rule for “[e]vidence of a pertinent trait of character of 

the victim of the crime offered by an accused.”  But even under this exception, 

“[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character 

of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.”  ER 404(b).  “In all 

cases in which evidence of character or a trait of character of a person is 

admissible, proof may be made by testimony as to reputation.”  ER 405(a). 

The victim’s character need not have been known to the defendant to be 

admissible on the issue of who was the primary aggressor.  State v. Adamo, 120 

Wash. 268, 270, 207 P. 7 (1922).  But evidence of a victim’s character “must be in 

the form of reputation evidence, not evidence of specific acts.”  State v. 

Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 886, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998) (abrogated on other 

grounds by State v. Jackson, 195 Wn.2d 841, 467 P.3d 97 (2020)).  “Specific acts 

may be used to prove character only where the pertinent character trait is an 

essential element of a claim or defense.  Specific act character evidence relating 
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to the victim’s alleged propensity for violence is not an essential element of self-

defense.”  Id. at 886-87.  But a defendant may introduce reputation evidence to 

establish the victim’s quarrelsome or violent disposition.  Adamo, 120 Wash. at 

270. 

The evidence of Whitemarsh’s six DUI convictions and Cunningham’s 

previous single encounter with Whitemarsh constitutes specific act evidence, as 

opposed to reputation evidence, and is inadmissible under ER 404(a) to prove 

Whitemarsh was violent when driving. 

Whitemarsh’s mother’s statements to the police are also inadmissible 

because they do not establish Whitemarsh’s reputation in the community as 

required by ER 404(a).  Berkley contends that Mrs. Whitemarsh would have 

testified that the victim “had a bad temper, frequently got angry while on the road, 

and kept a weapon in the car—a small baseball bat.”  Under ER 608(a), to offer 

reputation testimony under ER 404(a), a party must lay a foundation establishing 

that the witness’s testimony about the victim’s reputation is based on perceptions 

in the community.  State v. Thach, 126 Wn. App. 297, 315, 106 P.3d 782 (2005); 

State v. Callahan, 87 Wn. App. 925, 935, 943 P.2d 676 (1997) (applying ER 608 

test to admissibility of reputation evidence under ER 404(a)).  A witness’s personal 

opinion is not sufficient to lay this foundation.  State v. Land, 121 Wn.2d 494, 500, 

851 P.2d 678 (1993).  A valid community must be “neutral enough [and] 

generalized enough to be classed as a community.”  State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 

874, 822 P.2d 177 (1991) (quotations omitted).   

The trial court here reasoned that Mrs. Whitemarsh’s testimony was not 

general enough to constitute reputation testimony, but rather was “opinion 
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evidence” from “a community of one.”  The court relied on Thach, in which this 

court held that the testimony of a single family member regarding the defendant’s 

peaceful character was inadmissible as reputation evidence under ER 608(a) 

because a witness’s personal opinion is not sufficient to lay a foundation for an 

individual’s reputation.   

Thach correctly states the law that reputation testimony must be given by 

members of a neutral and generalized community.  See Land, 121 Wn.2d at 500 

(factors to consider include the frequency of contact between members of the 

community, the amount of time a person is known in the community, the role a 

person plays in the community, and the number of people in the community).  In 

Thach, the court noted that “[n]o case law exists supporting the proposition that a 

family constitutes a community for purposes of character evidence.”  126 Wn. App. 

at 315.  Even if Berkley could establish that Whitemarsh’s mother was a member 

of a neutral and generalized community, Berkley presented no evidence as to how 

Whitemarsh’s mother had knowledge of Whitemarsh’s reputation in that 

community.  The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding her opinion that 

her son was a “road rage driver.” 

Berkley also argues that the excluded evidence was admissible under ER 

404(b), which states: 

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove 
the character of a person in order to show action in conformity 
therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such 
as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, 
identity, or absence of mistake or accident.  

 
To the extent that Berkley offered evidence that Whitemarsh drove 

aggressively on prior occasions to prove that he was the primary aggressor in his 
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interaction with Berkley, it is propensity evidence prohibited by the plain text of the 

rule.  The trial court correctly ruled that this evidence was inadmissible on that 

basis. 

Berkley, however, also argues that the evidence was admissible to prove 

that he had a reasonable apprehension of Whitemarsh.  Berkley cites State v. 

Young, 48 Wn. App. 406, 739 P.2d 1170 (1987), a vehicular homicide case in 

which the defendant, who was driving the car, claimed that his passenger caused 

the fatal accident by grabbing his steering wheel and causing him to lose control.  

Id. at 408-09.  The defendant sought to introduce testimony that the passenger 

had repeatedly grabbed the steering wheels of other drivers in the past, evidence 

the trial court excluded.  Id. at 409.   

This court held the evidence was admissible under ER 404(b) to prove the 

identity of the person responsible for the accident and the person in control of the 

vehicle when the accident occurred.  Id. at 413.  But Berkley fails to explain how 

the reasoning in Young applies here, where he sought to introduce evidence of 

prior acts, not to prove identity, but to prove his reasonable apprehension of 

Whitemarsh.  Young is inapplicable to the facts of this case. 

Berkley also cites State v. Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App. 306, 402 P.3d 281 

(2017), in which the court held that testimony concerning a murder victim’s prior 

violent and threatening behavior towards the defendant’s family was admissible to 

support the defendant’s self-defense claim.  The court reasoned: “Here, Duarte 

Vela was not attempting to prove Menchaca’s character.  Rather, Duarte Vela was 

attempting to establish that he reasonably feared Menchaca because of what he 

believed about Menchaca at the time he shot him.”  Id. at 325-26.  But, crucially, 
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the court continued: “It is well established that a victim’s specific acts of violence, 

if known by the defendant, are admissible when the defendant asserts self-

defense.”  Id. at 326 (citations omitted; emphasis in original).   

Berkley testified he did not know Whitemarsh.  And there is no evidence in 

this record that he knew of Whitemarsh’s prior acts of aggressive and impaired 

driving.  It has long been settled law in Washington that evidence of a victim’s 

specific acts is irrelevant to a defendant’s reasonable apprehension of that victim 

unless the defendant knew of the acts.  See Adamo, 120 Wash. at 271.  The trial 

court did not abuse its discretion by excluding this evidence under ER 404(b). 

Berkley argues that even if the evidence was otherwise inadmissible, he 

should have been permitted to offer it because it was crucial to his claim of self-

defense.  Both the federal and state constitutions protect the rights of criminal 

defendants to present a complete defense.  U.S. CONST amend. VI; WASH CONST. 

art. I, § 22; Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 

(1974); State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010).  But the right to 

present a defense is not without limitation.  State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 621, 

41 P.3d 1189 (2002).  For example, “the Constitution permits judges to exclude 

evidence that is repetitive . . . only marginally relevant or poses an undue risk of 

harassment, prejudice, [or] confusion of the issues.”  Holmes v. South Carolina, 

547 U.S. 319, 326-27, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006) (quotations 

omitted).  Moreover, state courts have broad latitude under the constitution to 

establish rules excluding evidence from criminal trials.  United States v. Scheffer, 

523 U.S. 303, 308, 118 S. Ct. 1261, 140 L. Ed. 2d 413 (1998).  An evidence rule 

abridges a defendant’s right to present a defense when it infringes on a weighty 
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interest of the defendant and is arbitrary or disproportionate to the purpose it was 

designed to serve.  Holmes, 547 U.S. at 324.   

In assessing a constitutional challenge to a trial court’s evidentiary decision, 

we must first determine if the evidence is at least minimally relevant.  State v. Orn, 

197 Wn.2d 343, 353, 482 P.3d 913 (2021).  “If the evidence is relevant, the 

reviewing court must weigh the defendant’s right to produce relevant evidence 

against the State’s interest in limiting the prejudicial effects of that evidence to 

determine if excluding the evidence violates the defendant’s constitutional rights.”  

Jennings, 199 Wn.2d at 63.   

The excluded evidence here was not relevant to the reasonableness of 

Berkley’s subjective fear, as Berkley was not aware of either Whitemarsh’s alleged 

reputation for violent behavior or his prior instances of impaired and aggressive 

driving.  In the absence of Berkley’s prior knowledge, none of the excluded 

evidence—Whitemarsh’s DUI convictions, his mother’s testimony that he was an 

aggressive driver, or Cunningham’s testimony about the previous road rage 

incident—helps establish that Berkley had a subjectively reasonable belief of 

imminent harm at the time he shot Whitemarsh in the face and head.  While the 

evidence is relevant for the purposes of corroborating Berkley’s testimony that 

Whitemarsh was the primary aggressor, we nonetheless conclude that the State’s 

interest in excluding this otherwise inadmissible and possibly misleading evidence 

outweighs Berkley’s need to present it. 

Recently, in Jennings, our Supreme Court applied this balancing test to a 

trial court’s evidentiary ruling excluding a toxicology report showing that the victim 

in a felony murder case had a high level of methamphetamine in his system.  Id. 
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at 53.  Jennings argued that the toxicology report was crucial to his claim of self-

defense because it corroborated his testimony that he believed the victim was high 

on methamphetamine when Jennings shot him during a physical altercation.  Id. 

at 66.   

The Supreme Court concluded that the exclusion of this evidence did not 

violate Jennings’s right to present a defense.  The court determined the evidence 

was only minimally probative because even if the victim was high on 

methamphetamine during the altercation, there was no qualified expert to testify to 

the drug’s effect on the victim.  Id.  The evidence, it held, would have left the jury 

to speculate as to what effect the drugs might have had on the victim when 

determining whether Jennings’s fear was reasonable.  Id.  The court further 

reasoned that, despite the exclusion of the report, Jennings was still able to assert 

his theory of the case by testifying regarding his subjective fear and his belief that 

Burton was high on methamphetamine.  Id. at 67.  For these reasons, Jennings’s 

interest in presenting the evidence could not overcome the State’s interest in 

voiding the prejudicial and speculative effect of the report.  Id. 

We reach the same conclusion.  Here, as in Jennings, the State’s interest 

in excluding potentially misleading and speculative evidence outweighed Berkley’s 

interest in admitting the evidence to corroborate his testimony that Whitemarsh 

instigated the confrontation leading to the shooting.  

First, as in Jennings, the evidence was only minimally probative as 

corroboration of what Berkley testified to at trial.  And it could mislead a jury into 

assuming that if Whitemarsh had threatened to harm a driver without provocation 

during an earlier incident, he must have similarly threatened Berkley for no reason.  
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Washington courts typically disfavor evidence intended to suggest that because a 

person acted wrongfully in the past, they must also be doing so now.  State v. Lee, 

188 Wn.2d 473, 488, 396 P.3d 316 (2017).  Similarly, the evidence had a high 

probability of leading the jury to speculate that Whitemarsh’s past acts and 

behaviors provided Berkley with a reasonable basis for such a belief when in fact 

Berkley had no knowledge of those events.   

Second, the exclusion of the evidence did not limit Berkley’s ability to 

present his theory of the case.  He testified and gave his account of Whitemarsh’s 

aggressive behavior with the support of evidence showing that Whitemarsh was 

greatly impaired during the incident.  Multiple eyewitnesses corroborated some 

aspects of Berkley’s account of the events, including that Whitemarsh was driving 

at an excessive rate of speed and at too close of a distance to avoid the rear-end 

collision when Berkley unexpectedly braked.  Berkley’s interest in presenting the 

excluded evidence thus cannot overcome the inflammatory, marginally relevant, 

and prejudicial nature of that evidence, and the trial court did not violate his right 

to present a defense. 

Prosecutorial Misconduct 

Berkley next argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct when, in 

closing, he described Berkley’s second shot as an “execution.”  We disagree. 

A prosecutor must ensure that they do not violate a defendant’s right to a 

constitutionally fair trial.  State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 

(2011).  To establish prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant must show that the 

prosecuting attorney’s statements were both improper and prejudicial.  State v. 

Allen, 182 Wn.2d 364, 373, 341 P.3d 268 (2015).  The defendant must 
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demonstrate that any improper conduct ‘“resulted in prejudice that had a 

substantial likelihood of affecting the jury’s verdict.’”  Id. at 375 (quoting State v. 

Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)).  When determining whether 

prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal, we must review the statement in the 

context of the entire case.  State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 

(1994). 

During closing argument in this case, the prosecutor anticipated that 

Berkley’s focus in closing would be on instruction 7, which read in pertinent part: 

It is a defense to a charge of murder that the homicide was 
justifiable as defined in this instruction. 

 
Homicide is justifiable when committed in the lawful defense 

of the slayer when: 
 
(1) the slayer reasonably believed that the person slain 

intended to inflict death or great personal injury; 
(2) the slayer reasonably believed that there was imminent 

danger of such harm being accomplished; and  
(3) the slayer employed such force and means as a 

reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar 
conditions as they reasonably appeared to the slayer, taking into 
consideration all the facts and circumstances as they appeared to 
him, at the time of and prior to the incident. 

The State pointed out the number of times the word “reasonably” appears in this 

instruction and argued that “almost nothing Mr. Berkley did from the time he 

slammed on his brakes to the time he fired the second shot is reasonable.”   

In discussing the evidence, the prosecutor argued: 

Mr. Whitemarsh is still seat belted in, door is still closed, posed 
no threat.  His hands are empty, no weapons were visible.  Yet when 
he had a gun stuck in his face, he started to turn his head, according 
to Mr. Berkley, and look around. 

 
So apparently Mr. Whitemarsh did what was natural.  When 

he was faced with a fear, he tried to avoid it.  That’s what most people 
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would do.  That is a reasonable reaction.  And according to Mr. 
Berkley, that reaction is what justifies shooting Mr. Whitemarsh right 
in the bottom lip, right through his teeth, right through his jaw, right 
into his tongue because he started looking around.  Still belted in the 
car, not trying to get out.  Hands still empty.  Not reaching for anything 
at that point, even by Mr. Berkley’s own version.  No visible weapons.  
He was looking around.  So he got shot in the face. 

 
That shot to the face made Mr. Whitemarsh turn his head, 

according to the defense, and sort of slump over.  So Mr. Berkley 
would have you believe that it’s reasonable under those 
circumstances to then assume he must be reaching for a weapon.  
He has to get something that can defeat a firearm.  Words pretty 
close to that that Mr. Berkley used. 

 
Even though his gun’s in his hand, pointed at Mr. Whitemarsh, 

safety off, all he had to do is pull the trigger.  And that’s what he 
chose to do instead of just waiting to see if there was any actual 
threat and that was it. 

 
He walked to face his fear out of anger.  He put a gun right in 

the face, and then he uses the reaction to excuse what he does next 
by shooting Mr. Whitemarsh.  And then he uses the further reaction 
to him shot [sic] to justify doing it again.  Now, of course, the evidence 
will show you it didn’t exactly go down that way.  But even if you want 
to accept that as a hundred percent accurate version, it doesn’t justify 
what happened under the law as instructed to you today. 

 
The second shot in this case is probably better characterized 

as an execution. 

Berkley objected to this last statement as “inflammatory,” an objection the court 

overruled, identifying it as “argument.”   

Berkley argues the use of the word “execution” is impermissibly 

inflammatory and should be deemed misconduct in a case in which the State knew 

the victim was arguably the first aggressor.  Our Supreme Court has previously 

held that a prosecutor’s statement that the defendant acted as “judge, jury and 

executioner of the victim” did not constitute prosecutorial misconduct.  State v. 

Davis, 141 Wn.2d 798, 873, 10 P.3d 977 (2000).  Berkley seeks to distinguish 
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Davis on the basis that the defendant in that case was charged with aggravated 

first degree murder, whereas Berkley was charged only with second degree 

murder. 

We do not consider this distinction a material one.  The State charged 

Berkley with intentionally causing Whitemarsh’s death.  The State had to prove 

and the jury found that “the defendant acted with intent to cause the death of 

Steven Whitemarsh.”  In Berkley’s closing, his attorney admitted that “[t]his case is 

not about who killed Mr. Whitemarsh.  This case is about Mr. Berkley’s mental 

state.  This case is about self-defense and whether or not the use of self-defense 

was justified in this case.”  The State’s characterization of Berkley’s second shot 

as an “execution,” was its way of arguing that Berkley was not acting in self-

defense but, instead, made an intentional decision to kill Whitemarsh.  In context, 

we deem the characterization to be an argument based on reasonable inferences 

from evidence presented at trial. 

Berkley relies on State v. Loughbom, 196 Wn.2d 64, 470 P.3d 499 (2020), 

to contend the comment was an unfair characterization of the evidence.  That case 

is also distinguishable.  The defendant was convicted of the delivery of 

methamphetamine.  During opening and closing arguments, the prosecutor made 

repeated remarks about the “the war on drugs.”  Id. at 70.  The court held that the 

prosecutor’s multiple references to the war on drugs deprived Loughbom of a fair 

trial because it “was a thematic narrative designed to appeal to a broader social 

cause.”  Id.  It found significant the fact that 

the prosecutor framed Loughbom’s prosecution as representative of 
the war on drugs multiple times over the course of a single-day trial, 
in addition to alluding to the local drug problem during jury selection. 
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Even more suspect is the near verbatim phrasing invoking the war 
on drugs at each point in the trial. . . .  It follows that this is not a case 
where the prosecutor inadvertently uttered the phrase war on drugs. 
This rhetoric was practiced and strategically employed at both ends 
of Loughbom’s trial.  Indeed, even the Court of Appeals, which found 
no misconduct, described the State’s use of the war on drugs as the 
prosecutor’s “theme.” 

 
Id. at 75-76. 

In contrast to the prosecutor’s comments in Loughbom, the prosecutor here 

mentioned the term “execution” just once and did not engage in the same type of 

practiced, thematic rhetoric.  And the reference to an “execution” was a factual 

characterization of Berkley’s second shot based on evidence at trial, and not an 

appeal to some larger social issue.  The evidence was undisputed that Whitemarsh 

was still seated, with his seat belt buckled, and still inside his locked car, when 

Berkley approached the vehicle and fired the first shot, striking Whitemarsh in the 

face.  Berkley then waited a few seconds before firing again, this time striking 

Whitemarsh in the head.  He fired from a distance of only 6 to 24 inches.  This 

evidence supports a reasonable inference that if the first shot was intended to 

incapacitate Whitemarsh, the only conceivable purpose for the second shot was 

to end Whitemarsh’s life. 

Nor can Berkley show that the prosecutor’s statement had a substantial 

likelihood of affecting the verdict.  The eyewitness testimony, the video recorded 

by Reeder, and Berkley’s own account of the shooting, supported the State’s 

theory that Berkley caused the car accident, intentionally approached 

Whitemarsh’s vehicle, pulled his gun and shot Whitemarsh to death, when 

Whitemarsh posed no threat to Berkley.  Berkley has failed to demonstrate that the 
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prosecutor’s single reference to the act of pulling the trigger the second time as an 

“execution” affected the outcome of his trial. 

Legal Financial Obligations 

For the first time on appeal, Berkley argues that, because he lacks the ability 

to pay restitution, the victim penalty assessment (VPA), and the DNA collection 

fee, these mandatory legal financial obligations (LFOs) must be stricken as an 

unconstitutionally excessive fine.  But Berkley did not raise this constitutional 

challenge below and the record is inadequate to determine whether, in fact, 

Berkley lacks the financial resources to pay these fees.  We therefore decline to 

reach the issue on its merits here. 

At sentencing, the prosecution asked the court to impose a $500 VPA, a 

$100 biological sample collection fee, court costs, and $6,028.47, in restitution.  

The prosecutor informed the court that “the little bit I know about Mr. Berkley makes 

me think he can pay” the LFOs.  The prosecutor also stated that “with respect to 

the financial obligations and firearms, I do know that an emergency response 

protection order or the ERPO was served soon after this incident, and a number 

of quality firearms were taken out of Mr. Berkley’s house, and they certainly cover 

these financial obligations that I’m recommending.”   

Berkley’s attorney indicated she did not anticipate having any objection to 

the amount of the requested restitution.  Counsel did ask the court to waive 

discretionary LFOs because “my client is indigent at this point.  He did lose his job 

once this incident happened and it became public in the media.  He is going to 

prison, so he’s obviously not going to be making very much money.  I think the 

most you can make over there is $1.76 an hour.”  Counsel acknowledged that the 
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police seized several guns from Berkley’s home but stated that “ownership of those 

weapons has already been transferred to someone else.”   

The trial court did not inquire of Berkley what assets he had or his ability to 

pay the LFOs because it decided instead to waive all discretionary LFOs.  It 

ordered Berkley to pay restitution, and the mandatory VPA and DNA collection fee 

and ordered Berkley to pay these LFOs in monthly installments of $50 per month, 

commencing 60 days after his release from confinement.  The restitution order 

signed the same day as the judgment and sentence indicates that the restitution 

amount was based on the parties’ agreement.   

Berkley now contends the mandatory LFOs are an unconstitutionally 

excessive fine because he lacks the financial ability to pay them.  Both the State 

and federal constitutions prohibit excessive fines.  WASH CONST. art. I, § 14; U.S. 

CONST. amend. VIII.  But Berkley did not raise this argument below.  Under RAP 

2.5(a), we may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial 

court.  A party may raise a claimed error for the first time on appeal if it is a manifest 

error affecting a constitutional right.  RAP 2.5(a)(3).  But “[i]f the facts necessary to 

adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record on appeal, no actual prejudice is 

shown and the error is not manifest.”  State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 

899 P.2d 1251 (1995). 

Berkley has not demonstrated manifest error because he failed to create a 

record necessary for this court to conclude he lacks the ability to pay the VPA, the 

DNA assessment, or restitution.  The State contended Berkley had sufficient 

assets to pay them.  In his motion and declaration for an order authorizing the 

appointment of an attorney at public expense on appeal, Berkley indicated that he 
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had household income of $2,900 in social security per month.  And Berkley testified 

that, as a mechanical engineer, he worked on aerospace defense contracts and 

was employed up until the day of the shooting.  Berkley admitted he owned a 

significant number of firearms that, according to the prosecutor, had substantial 

value and we do not know to whom he transferred ownership when the court 

entered the ERPO.  It is thus not clear from this record that Berkley lacks the ability 

to pay restitution or the other mandatory LFOs imposed by the trial court.  Berkley 

cannot establish manifest error and we decline to reach the issue under RAP 

2.5(a). 

Affirmed.   
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